COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II
2013 JUN 28 PM 1: 08
STATE OF WASHINGTON
ΒΥ
DEPUTY

NO. 44324-4-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ABBIGAIL GUTIERREZ, individually and as Guardian for N.L., a minor,

Respondent,

v.

OLYMPIA SCHOOL DISTRICT, a municipal corporation,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Jerry J. Moberg WSBA #5282 JERRY J. MOBERG & ASSOCIATES 451 Diamond Dr. Ephrata, WA 98823 Ph: (509) 754-2356 Daniel W. Ferm, WSBA #11466 WILLIAMS, KASTNER & GIBBS PLLC Two Union Square 601 Union Street, Suite 4100 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 628-6600

Attorneys for Appellant

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred by allowing plaintiff:
- (a) to play for the jury Ex. 139, RP 989-90, a videotape showing NL saying "twenty," in an October 21, 2011, interview with Mark Whitehill, Ph.D., in response to what Whitehill told the jury was a question asking her how many times Shafer rode her bus, which statement Whitehill pronounced "factually correct," RP 1046

- (b) to let Chris McGoey, a standard of care expert, cite NL's "twenty [times]" statement as the basis for his opinion that Shafer "definitely" rode NL's bus so frequently that OSD should have recognized behavior by a man that is a red flag for child molestation.
- (c) to elicit testimony that NL told her mother than Shafer rode her bus "always" and rode it "twice a week."
- (d) to elicit, from Detective Cheryl Stines, testimony relating statements that NL's school bus seatmate, VMV, made to Stines, and
- (e) to elicit Stines' lay opinion that VMV's statements mean Shafer groomed NL on "multiple" bus rides.
 - 2. The trial court erred in admitting:
- (a) Ex. 12, the record of Shafer's criminal conviction of and sentence for molesting three girls and possessing child pornography, and
- (b) testimony by Stines that Shafer stands convicted of molesting VMV and another girl, TMC, in addition to NL, on OSD buses.
- 3. The trial court erred in admitting McGoey's opinions concerning what OSD should have done to prevent NL's molestation.
- 4. The trial court erred in denying OSD's directed verdict motion, entering judgment on the verdict, and denying OSD's new-trial motion.

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Assignments of Error 1(a) and 4:

In a civil trial arising out the molestation of a kindergarten girl on a school bus, does a trial court commit *per se* reversible error when it lets the plaintiff show the jury a videotape of the child making an unsworn out of court statement the essence of which is that the main factual proposition on which plaintiff's liability theory depends is true, without making any determination that the child would be competent to testify as a witness?

Assignments of Error 1(a), (1)(b) and 4:

- 1. During the direct examination of a plaintiff's expert witness, may the trial court, without balancing probative value against prejudicial effect, permit the expert to relate, as the basis for his opinion, a statement that would be inadmissible hearsay if offered for its truth?
- 2. Is a limiting instruction that the jury may consider a hear-say statement only for purposes of assessing the opinion of an expert witness who professes to have based his opinion on the statement, and not for the statement's truth, likely to be effective to protect the nonproponent of the expert's opinion from unfair prejudice and/or jury confusion when:

 (a) the statement bears directly on the principal issue of fact in dispute for purposes of liability; and (b) the validity of the expert's opinion depends on the hearsay statement being true?

3. Is it likely that the limiting instructions the trial court gave when plaintiff's experts Chris McGoey and Mark Whitehill related a hearsay statement by NL were effective?

Issue pertaining to Assignments of Error 1(c) and 4:

Is the admission of a hearsay statement by a six year old that the main factual proposition on which plaintiff's liability theory depends is true necessarily reversible error if the jury returned a plaintiff's verdict when the proposition is not supported by separate admissible evidence?

<u>Issue pertaining to Assignments of Error 1(d) and 4:</u>

Were VMV's statements admissible for any purpose?

<u>Issue pertaining to Assignments of Error 1(e) and 4:</u>

Was Stines' opinion that Shafer had groomed NL on "multiple" bus rides admissible for any purpose?

Issue pertaining to Assignments of Error No. 2 and 4:

In the lawsuit against a school district seeking damages for the molestation of the plaintiff's daughter on her kindergarten bus, is evidence that the employee who molested the girl since been convicted of molesting that girl and two others on district buses, and of possessing child pornography, probative of whether the district should have known the employee who molested the girl was a child molestation risk, when there is no dispute that the employee molested the plaintiff's daughter and there

is no evidence that the district had reason to know of or suspect the other two molestations before it learned the employee was being investigated for molesting the plaintiff's daughter?

Issues pertaining to Assignments of Error No. 3 and 4

- 1. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in ruling that Chris McGoey was qualified to opine concerning procedures that school districts should follow to protect children from being molested on school buses?
- 2. In deciding whether to permit the proponent of a liability expert's opinion to elicit from the expert, on direct examination, testimony that the expert's opinion is based on a hearsay statement, does the trial court abuse its discretion if it fails to consider the fact that the statement bears directly on the principal issue in dispute for purposes of liability?

Issues pertaining to all Assignments of Error

- 1. Was the evidentiary ruling, if erroneous, harmless?
- 2. If the evidence that OSD contends was improperly admitted had been excluded, would the trial evidence have been sufficient to support the jury's liability findings?
- 3. Were plaintiffs' liability theory and damages claims both based on hearsay evidence as to how frequently Shafer rode NL's bus before molesting her, such that, if a new trial is the proper remedy for the trial court's errors, damages, as well as liability, should be retried?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NL, a Kindergartener, Tells Her Mother at the End of December 2010 that "Gary," a "Helper" on Her Kindergarten School Bus, Touched Her Inappropriately in November.

NL was born December 10, 2004. RP 1056. On September 1, 2010, at age five years and almost ten months, she started afternoon kindergarten at Centennial Elementary School in the Olympia School District (OSD) RP 410-12, 1058-59; Ex. 127. Starting on the second day of the school year, RP 1060, NL rode the bus to school every day, and was driven home by her mother, Abbigail Gutierrez, RP 73-74, 1058-59. Mario Paz was NL's bus driver. RP 57-58, 1059. Paz had been driving school buses for OSD for about 16 years. RP 55, 73.

Gutierrez waited for the bus with NL every day until winter break began on December 18. RP 1090-91; Ex. 127. The first day NL rode the bus, Gutierrez crossed the street with her and watched her get on the bus. RP 1090-91. Thereafter, Gutierrez waited while NL crossed the street, got on the bus, sat behind Paz, and waved to her. RP 58, 83, 92, 125, 1061, 1091. A classmate, VMV, who got on the bus after NL, usually sat with NL. RP 122-23, 1060-61, 1092-93. OSD's schedule called for the bus to pick NL up at 11:53 a.m., make its last pickup at 12:38 p.m., and arrive at Centennial Elementary at 12:40 p.m., Ex. 221; RP 94, 125-26, but the trip

could take as few as 20 minutes, depending on how many children were picked up, RP 94.

On December 30, 2010, a Friday, NL told her mother "Gary," a helper on her bus, had touched her inappropriately. RP 1064. The circumstances were not disclosed to the jury, but NL told her mother during a discussion that followed a family member's molestation of NL's older sister. CP 21 (¶2); 5/2012 RP at 32-34. Gutierrez called 911. RP 1064-65. The next day, the Sheriff's office called, obtained more information, and told Gutierrez the matter was being referred to a detective. RP 1065.

B. Gary Shafer Is Identified as the Molester and Is Arrested.

Detective Cheryl Stines called Gutierrez and arranged to interview NL on January 4, 2011. RP 191, 1065. According to Stines, N told her she had been touched by a "grown-up boy named Gary" who was a "helper" on the bus. RP 194. To try to identify "Gary," Stines called OSD's transportation department director, Fred Stanley. RP 195. Stines told Stanley she was investigating an accusation of inappropriate touching by a helper named Gary on a kindergarten bus route for Centennial Elementary. RP 196, 495. When Stines told him NL said "Gary" wore glasses, Stanley had a copy of Shafer's driver's license photo faxed to Stines. RP 196, 495-96. NL identified the picture as that of the "Gary" who had ridden on the bus. RP 195. Stines so advised Stanley. RP 495.

Stanley put Shafer on leave. RP 499-501. Shafer resigned on January 19, RP 573, 605, and was arrested on January 28, 2011. RP 265.

NL completed the 2010-11 year at Centennial Elementary. RP 1082. Gutierrez took NL to a counselor when NL began seeming upset about a month to six weeks after disclosing her molestation. RP 1068-69, 1071, 1075. NL saw Maile Bay weekly in mid-2011. RP 1075. After three or four months, Bay told Gutierrez that NL did not need more counseling, and it was discontinued in August 2011, RP 1077, 1086-87.

NL attended first grade in a different school district, and did well. RP 1089. NL's counseling with Ms. Bay was resumed for two or three months in early 2012. RP 1077. NL was riding a bus to and from second grade at the time of trial in the fall of 2012. RP 1093.

C. NL's Mother Sues OSD, Claiming It Supervised Gary Shafer Negligently.

In April 2012, on behalf of NL and herself, Gutierrez filed this lawsuit against OSD, but not against Shafer or any other individuals. CP 10-16. Gutierrez claimed that OSD breached a duty to protect NL from foreseeable sexual assault. *E.g.*, CP 413, 425 (Trial Brief). As explained below, the central liability issue at trial was whether OSD transportation department officials should have known Gary Shafer presented a child molestation risk before he molested NL in November 2010.

D. <u>How OSD's Transportation Department Operated Was Not Disputed.</u>

The OSD transportation department served three high schools, four middle schools, and nine elementary schools. RP 1268-69. OSD employed 46 regular and 15 substitute bus drivers and had about 50 buses. RP 1269. Regular school bus drivers, those with the most seniority, were assigned to drive the same route every day. RP 1269, 1271. Most regular routes had morning and afternoon segments. Starting at about 7 a.m., the driver would pick up high school and/or middle school students, take them to school, then make an elementary school pickup run, and then clock out at about 9:30. RP 1269-71. At about 2 p.m., the driver would take high school and/or middle school students home, then make an elementary school take-home run. RP 1271-72. The two segments provided a total of about four and a half to five hours of paid work a day. RP 1170.

Some regular drivers had "mid-day" routes. RP 1269. Most mid-day routes transported kindergarteners to or from their half-day classes. RP 1273. There also was a mid-day "skills route" that drove high school students to the New Market Vocational Center in Tumwater and back, RP 547, 583, 1272, and some mid-day routes that shuttled special education students between schools, RP 1273. Substitute bus drivers were on call to drive if a regular driver was absent. RP 1270-71.

¹ OSD school bus drivers worked under a union contract. RP 501, 1271.

Bus routes could change from year to year and during a year. RP 69-20, 1232, 1239. On kindergarten routes, all the children changed every year, so the bus stops changed. RP 73, 619. Bus routes were updated almost weekly. RP 108. Drivers carried a route sheet, listing all the left and right-hand turns, where to stop, who to drop off or pick up at each stop, the time at which the bus should reach each stop, and whether a child was a "crosser" (of the street). RP 113, 116-118, 628; Ex. 221. Exhibit 221 is a route sheet for the bus route NL rode to school in the fall of 2010.

In the fall of 2010, Shafer was the regular driver on OSD's Washington Middle School bus route. RP 75.²

Between morning and afternoon runs, regular bus drivers could go home, and some did. RP 1273. Alternatively, they could remain at OSD's "bus barn" near South Puget Sound Community College, RP 82, and "bid" on, and perhaps drive, a mid-day route that needed a driver, which meant at least two hours of extra pay, RP 527-29, 533-34, 538-39, 583, 1129, 1170. Ten to a dozen OSD drivers, including Shafer, bid to drive mid-day routes often or even daily. RP 585, 621, 1170, 1274. Drivers who were not driving a mid-day route could "ride along," unpaid, to learn a route or help the driver. RP 108, 1153-54, 1170, 1233, 1274-75. It usually takes

² OSD hired Shafer in August 2005 after he was interviewed and passed a criminal history background check. RP 520, 527, 576, 1149-50, 1157, 1196-98. Plaintiff neither offered evidence that Shafer's record had warranted rejection of his employment application nor sought a jury instruction on a "negligent hiring" claim. See CP 1087.

two ride-alongs, but sometimes more, to learn to drive a route. RP 109-10, 628, 1231-32.

E. OSD Encouraged Bus Route "Ride Alongs".

To "ride along" on a route, a driver needed Fred Stanley's permission. RP 591, 1155, 1234, 1279. Stanley encouraged and readily granted ride-along requests. RP 502-03, 533, 562, 572, 589-91. Riding along was not unusual in Washington school districts, and Stanley considered it consistent with a team atmosphere. RP 589-92, 1235, 1277-79. OSD kept no record of driver ride-alongs, RP 546, 553, 1183, 1304,³ but Stanley knew in the fall of 2010 that Shafer had ridden along on at least half a dozen different mid-day routes. RP 570. Other OSD bus drivers would have had similar histories. RP 584. Shafer got Stanley's permission to ride along on Paz's bus three times over a period of months during the fall of 2010. RP 1295. Until Stines called him, Stanley had never received a complaint about a bus route on which Shafer had ridden along. RP 592.

F. OSD Sought Pretrial Evidentiary Rulings with Mixed Results.

OSD moved in limine to preclude reference to statements and ER 404(b) "other bad acts" by Shafer.⁴ OSD also moved to bar "questions suggesting that Shafer had been riding on Mario Paz's bus for months

³ OSD did keep records of the routes driven. A tally of the routes Shafer drove is Ex. 43.
⁴ CP 58 (\P 4), 62 (\P 24), 63 (\P 26), 64-66 (\P 29), 67-68 (\P 935-36), 69 (\P 40), 70-71 (\P 944-46); 9/5/2012 RP 71-76, 82-83.

without some evidence to establish the truth of that claim." CP 69-70 (¶41). OSD also moved to exclude the opinions of plaintiff's purported school safety experts, Chris McGoey and Judith Billings, as incompetent, not based on specialized knowledge or industry rules or standards, and as gratuitous parrotings of plaintiff's negligence theory. CP 1250-59.

Opposing those motions, plaintiff's counsel characterized the case as being about "the district's knowledge or what they should have known about Gary Shafer and Shafer's prosecution and Shafer's ambitions," 9/5/2012 RP 33, because "if you've got a grown man playing around with kindergarten girls, that is a red flag." *Id.* at 85. The court mostly reserved formal ruling on OSD's motions concerning Shafer's statements and other bad acts, CP 82-84, but told counsel that it would exclude statements that a psychosexual evaluation (Ex. 4) and presentence report (Ex. 5) attributed to Shafer, as well as evidence of his conduct, and would allow the jury to learn only of Shafer's convictions and sentence. 9/10/2012 RP 11-15; Ex. 12. The court also told counsel that McGoey and Billings could not refer to statements attributed to or by Shafer. 9/10/2012 RP 31-37.

- G. The Main Issue at Trial Was How Frequently Shafer "Rode Along" on NL's Bus Before He Molested Her.
 - 1. <u>Mario Paz and other OSD bus drivers testified that they saw</u> nothing suspicious in Shafer's behavior.

Plaintiff's counsel called Paz as his first trial witness because Paz's deposition testimony was problematic for OSD as trial evidence.⁵ Paz had testified in his deposition that OSD had a rule that adults are not to sit with children on buses, and that he had violated those rules by allowing Shafer to sit with NL and VMV in the seat behind him on the third occasion when Shafer rode along on his Centennial Elementary mid-day route in the fall of 2010. RP 60-62, 65-68, 76, 78-79, 85-86. Paz had been mistaken, as he testified at trial. RP 103-04, 122, 124, 151. OSD has had no such rules or policies and no other Washington district ever has, either.⁶ Plaintiff's school safety expert, Chris McGoey, admittedly was not aware of any school district that has had such rules or policies. RP 714-15, 723-26.

In addition to Mario Paz, seven OSD bus drivers testified about ride-alongs and Shafer. All denied having seen anything unusual in

⁵ English is Paz's second language, RP 100, and he has more difficulty understanding questions than answering them. The trial court belatedly perceived that, and suggested the lawyers summarize his testimony and ask him "Is this what you mean?" RP 114.

⁶ RP 576-78 and 609-10 (OSD transportation director Stanley), 1161-64 (department training coordinator Barbara Greer); RP 860-65 (retired OSD superintendent William Lahmann); RP 1101-02 (Hansen Elementary School principal Ernie Rascon); RP 1456-63 (Janet Barry, Ph.D., former superintendent in the Issaquah and Central Kitsap districts); RP 1575-89 (Vancouver district transportation coordinator Daniel Payne); RP 293 (retired OSD bus driver Dale Thompson); RP 385-86 (OSD bus driver Thomas Engle); RP 1247 (OSD bus driver Jim Wall); RP 1121-22 (OSD bus driver John Bakewell); RP 1317-21 (OSD bus driver Mai Skillman).

Shafer's ride-along frequency or behavior. RP 240-94, 315-33 (Dale Thompson)⁷; RP 334-59 (Thomas Reeves); RP 362-92 (Thomas Engle); RP 1105-15 (Kelly Cooper); RP 1115-30 (John Bakewell); RP 1240-63 (Jim Wall); RP 1311-30 (Mai Skillman).

Paz insisted Shafer had ridden along on his bus no more than three times in the fall of 2010, RP 89-93, 107. Paz testified that Shafer had ridden along on his route the first time to learn the route, that no children were on the bus that time, RP 93, and that it takes two or three rides to learn the route, RP 109-10. The second time, Paz testified, Shafer sat by himself in the right front seat. RP 93, 107. For the first two ride-alongs, Shafer had a route sheet. RP 119. On the third ride-along, Shafer sat in the seat behind Paz, RP 94, which is the seat NL sat in, RP 58-59. Shafer was sitting in that seat when NL and then VMV got on the bus. RP 111. In his rearview mirror Paz could see no lower than Shafer's head. RP 77; see Ex. 65. Paz did not hear Shafer interacting with the girls. RP 79.8

2. A videotape of what NL told Detective Stines on January 4, 2011 was shown to the jury without objection by OSD.

NL was not called to testify at trial in person or by deposition.

⁷ Thompson, who retired in 2013 after driving an OSD bus for 18 years, RP 240, drove the Hansen Elementary School mid-day kindergarten route, on which Shafer rode seven to ten times a year. RP 241, 256, 264. The route was the largest in the district, RP 259, and as many as 15 to 30 drivers – not just Shafer – would ride along to help him. RP 264, 291-92, 316, 322, 326, 328. Shafer loved being around children, but, Thompson testified, "we all did," and this "was the most fun of all the jobs I've had."

⁸ The bus was an 82 passenger bus, RP 72, with high-backed seats. RP 77, 1163.

An excerpt from a videotape of Detective Stines interviewing NL on January 4, 2011, was shown to the jury. RP 198-204; Ex. 97A. In the tape, NL says "a grown-up boy," not the driver, "went in my panties," RP 198-99, on the ride to school, RP 200. NL says she was "sitting on Gary's lap," in the front of the bus, and Gary "went in my pants and underwear" with his hand, RP 201, and touched "my private," and "kept tickling me," RP 202. Asked by Stines "how many times did this happen?", NL answers "one," RP 202, and says it was after Halloween and before Thanksgiving, RP 204. Asked by Stines "has Gary been on your bus every day?", NL answers "some days," and "some days there's a different guy. Some days there's no one." RP 204. NL says no one besides Gary has done anything like that to her. RP 204.

Stines agreed in her trial testimony that the video tape shows pretty much the sum and substance of what NL reported to her. RP 233.

Stines also gave testimony, related below, about her investigation.

Stines did not testify as an expert.

- 3. Over OSD's relevance objections, the court admitted other evidence about Stines' investigation of, and Shafer's conviction for, sex crimes against other girls.
 - a. The jury was informed of Shafer's conviction and sentence for sex crimes not involving NL.

Over OSD's objections that the evidence was not relevant, was unfairly prejudicial, and was not admissible under ER 404(b),⁹ the jury was informed that, in May 2011, Det. Stines began investigating charges that Shafer had molested a girl on a different OSD kindergarten bus, RP 225-26, 228, and that he was convicted in June 2011 of molesting NL and two other kindergarten girls on OSD buses and of possessing child pornography¹⁰ and is serving 14½ years to life. Ex. 12, RP 229-30.

b. The court admitted testimony by Stines relating statements made to her by VMV, and Stines' opinion as to what conclusion she drew from them about Shafer's interactions with NL.

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