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

The District also cites an unpublished federal district court decision, *Roth v. Amtrak*, 1999 U.S. District LEXIS 20173 *3 (N.D. III. Dec. 29, 1999). Br. of App. at 38. Although Gutierrez has been unable to locate the case cited by the District, Gutierrez has located *Roth v. Nat. Railroad Passenger Corp*, No. 97-C-6503, 1999 WL 1270706 (N.D. III. Dec. 29, 1999), also an unpublished federal district court opinion involving the same parties, filed on the same day, and lacking the language parenthetically quoted by the District in its brief. Regardless, this court should not consider the *Roth* opinion cited by the District as the language of Federal Rule of Evidence (FRE) 703 materially differs from that of Washington's ER 703. *Compare* ER 703 ("the facts or data meed not be admissible in evidence"), *with* FRE 703 ("if the facts or data would otherwise be inadmissible, the proponent of the opinion may disclose them to the jury only if their probative value in helping the jury evaluate the opinion substantially outweighs their prejudicial effect").

for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a)(3) generally precludes parties from raising issues for the first time on appeal. Specific to evidentiary issues, ER 103(a)(1) provides that error may not be predicated on a ruling admitting evidence unless "a timely objection or motion to strike is made, stating the *specific ground* of objection, if the specific ground was not apparent from the context." Emphasis added. Thus, "[a] party may only assign error in the appellate court on the specific ground of the evidentiary objection made at trial." *State v. Guloy*, 104 Wn.2d 412, 422, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985). A party who fails to object on such specific grounds at trial fails to preserve the issue for appellate review. *State v. Black*, 109 Wn.2d 336, 340, 745 P.2d 12 (1987).

Here, the District did not object on the basis of or otherwise argue to the trial court that it was required to conduct an ER 403 balancing test as part of the ER 703 and 705 inquiry. *See*, *e.g.*, RP 993. Having failed to object on this specific basis below, the trial court did not have the opportunity to consider the issue now raised, and the issue was not preserved for appellate review.¹¹

2. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by showing the jury a 20 second video clip of N.L.'s interview with Dr. Whitehill's assistant that included her "twenty times" statement.

The District next argues that showing the short video clip of N.L.

¹¹ Further, the District failed in its opening brief to argue that this issue is a "manifest error affecting a constitutional right" which may be considered for the first time on appeal, RAP 2.5(a)(3), and the District may not argue that it meets its burden under RAP 2.5(a)(3) for the first time in its reply brief. *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992) (appellate court does not consider arguments made for the first time in reply briefs).

saying "twenty times" was error because N.L.'s competency was never assessed. Br. of App. at 40-42. The District also suggests that showing the video clip was error because it could not cross examine N.L. Br. of App. at 42.

But the District failed to object at trial on the specific grounds of N.L.'s competency or its inability to cross-examine N.L., and it fails to argue in its opening brief that such error, if any, may be raised for the first time on appeal. RP 973-74. The District failed to preserve these issues for appellate review. RAP 2.5(a)(3); ER 103(a)(1); *Cowiche*, 118 Wn.2d at 809; *Black*, 109 Wn.2d at 340.

Even if the District had not waived the competency issue, its argument is logically inconsistent. The District claims that the trial court was required to ascertain N.L.'s competency to *testify as a witness* even though N.L. did not testify nor were her statements admitted as sworn testimony or substantive evidence; rather, they were admitted under ER 703 and 705 for the limited purpose of explaining Dr. Whitehill's and McGoey's opinions. Likewise, this court has roundly rejected arguments that a party is unfairly prejudiced by an inability to cross-examine the declarant of out-of-court statements admitted under ER 703 and 705. *E.g.*. *Lucas*, 167 Wn. App. at 110; *State v. Eaton*, 30 Wn. App. 288, 291-95, 633 P.2d 921 (1981). A party has a fair opportunity to respond by "test[ing] the reliability of the [expert's] opinion . . . through cross-examination of the [expert]," *Lucas*, 167 Wn. App. at 110 (first, second, and third alterations in original) (quoting *Eaton*, 30 Wn. App. at 292), on

such matters as whether the expert took the declarant's statements "at 'face value' with no means to verify them." *Lucas*, 167 Wn. App. at 110. Thus, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the video clip because the District had every opportunity to cross-examine McGoey and Dr. Whitehill on such matters.

Finally, the District invited any error in showing this extremely short video clip. Before the jury viewed the video clip of N.L.'s interview with Dr. Whitehill's assistant, the jury had earlier viewed a video of N.L.'s interview with Sergeant Stines. RP 197; Ex. 97A. The District never objected to playing the video of N.L.'s interview with Sergeant Stines to the jury; quite the opposite, the District affirmatively argued that the video should be shown as "the best evidence" of N.L.'s statements. RP 194. Later, after the jury viewed the video clip of N.L.'s interview with Dr. Whitehill's assistant, the trial court clarified why it allowed that video to be shown: "[C]onsistent with the court's prior rulings, the best information that this jury has been able to hear is that of the victim herself describing what happened, and the weight and credibility of that is for them to assess." RP 1052-1053.

The doctrine of invited error prohibits a party from setting up an error at trial and then complaining of it on appeal. *Nania v. Pac. Nw. Bell Tel. Co., Inc.*, 60 Wn. App. 706, 709, 806 P.2d 787 (1991). Here, the District seeks a windfall by representing to the trial court that actually observing N.L. making her statements provided the jury with the best means for assessing those statements, but complaining on appeal that

viewing a similar video was prejudicial.¹² The District invited the error, if any, and this court should not review it.

3. The so-called "vouching" testimony was not improper and the District failed to preserve the issue for appellate review.

The District argues that both McGoey and Dr. Whitehill impermissibly "vouched" for the credibility of N.L.'s statements. ¹³ Br. of App. at 42-44. Yet, again, the District did not object at trial to any of the so-called "vouching" testimony it cites in its opening brief and fails to argue in its opening brief that such error, if any, is manifest constitutional error that may be raised for the first time on appeal. Therefore, the District failed to preserve these issues for appellate review. RAP 2.5(a)(3); ER 103(a)(1); *Cowiche*, 118 Wn.2d at 809; *Black*, 109 Wn.2d at 340.

Further, the District's argument appears to rely on bootstrapping

¹² Notably, the District wanted the jury to see the video of N.L.'s interview with Sergeant Stines because N.L. described Shafer's molestations as occurring only once. RP 202. The District challenged showing N.L.'s interview with Dr. Whitehill's assistant because N.L. commented that Shafer rode her bus 20 times. RP 990; Ex. 139. The District complains on appeal that this was error because the jury should have known that the second video came later and something could have been suggested to N.L. in the interim. However, as argued above, the District had the opportunity to make these arguments on cross but failed to do so. *See Lucas*, 167 Wn. App. at 110. This is not an issue to complain about on appeal.

¹³ The District also argues that having Dr. Whitehill provide N.L.'s statement and showing the video excerpt in which N.L. made the statement "implicitly vouched" for N.L.'s credibility. Br. of App. at 43. But the District fails to provide any citation to authority supporting this conclusory argument. This court does not consider conclusory arguments. RAP 10.3(a)(6), .4. "Such '[p]assing treatment of an issue or lack of reasoned argument is insufficient to merit judicial consideration." West, 168 Wn. App. at 187 (quoting Holland v. City of Tacoma, 90 Wn. App. 533, 538, 954 P.2d 290 (1998)). And this court does not consider claims unsupported by citation to legal authority. RAP 10.3(a)(6); Cowiche, 118 Wn.2d at 809. And the District may not cure its conclusory argument unsupported by authority through providing further argument or citation to authority in its reply brief. Joy v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 170 Wn. App. 614, 629-30, 285 P.3d 187 (2012).

into this context case law that prohibits one witness from testifying as to the credibility of another <u>witness</u>. But such case law is inapposite; as discussed above, N.L. did not testify at trial as a witness providing sworn testimony admitted as substantive evidence. Rather, McGoey and Dr. Whitehill related her statements as information they relied on in forming their opinions under ER 703 and ER 705, and the reliability of such information was an issue fairly subject to inquiry by counsel. ¹⁴ See Lucas, 167 Wn. App. at 110.

4. There can be no error because the trial court gave a limiting instruction before each time that the jury heard N.L.'s "twenty times" statement.

The District contends that, had the trial court conducted an ER 403 analysis of McGoey's and Whitehill's testimony about relying on N.L.'s statements in forming their opinions, it would have concluded that a limiting instruction could never cure the prejudicial effect of N.L.'s "twenty times" statements, even as non-substantive evidence offered for the limited purpose of explaining their opinions. Br. of App. at 44-46. But, again, the District did not raise a timely ER 403 objection to such

¹⁴ If this court reaches the merits of the issue, however, neither the specific statements by McGoey nor Dr. Whitehill cited by the District were improper "vouching" testimony. First, the District argues that McGoey's statement that "I have to accept the evidence I see on its face, twenty times or – but, you know, definitely more than three times," constituted improper vouching. Br. of App. at 44. But McGoey's statement was not that he believed N.L. or believed that she was telling the truth; rather, he explained that "I have to accept the evidence I see on its face," i.e., that he accepted her statements at face value and assumed their truth. RP 673. This is the substantial equivalent of the procedure recommended in the Tegland treatise cited by the District. Br. of App. at 43. Likewise, Dr. Whitehill's statement that "we saw the clip with the twenty . . . and that seemed to be factually correct information" was not a bare assertion that he believed N.L., but a statement that he found the "twenty times" statement reliable enough in light of other evidence he reviewed to serve as a basis for his opinion. RP 987, 1045-1047 (other evidence Dr. Whitehill reviewed in forming his opinion).

evidence at trial. Thus, the District failed to preserve for appellate review any claim that the trial court erred in failing to conduct an ER 403 analysis in whole or in part. RAP 2.5(a)(3); ER 103(a)(1); *Cowiche*, 118 Wn.2d at 809; *Black*, 109 Wn.2d at 340.

Even if this court concludes that the District did not waive this issue, the limiting instruction was sufficient. Washington courts presume that the jury follows the trial court's lawful instructions. *Tincani v. Inland Empire Zoological Soc.*, 124 Wn.2d 121, 136, 875 P.2d 621 (1994). Here, the limiting instructions given by the trial court materially complied with the instruction described by our Supreme Court in *Coe* and were, thus, lawful instructions. *Coe*, 175 Wn.2d at 513-14. Accordingly, this court must presume that the jury followed them. That presumption controls "until it is overcome by a showing otherwise." *Nichols v. Lackie*, 58 Wn. App. 904, 907, 795 P.2d 722 (1990). The District neither cites to any evidence in the record nor provides any supporting argument that the jury failed to follow this particular instruction; for this reason alone, the District's claim fails. RAP 10.3(a)(6); *Cowiche*, 118 Wn.2d at 809.

Additionally, the District suggests that the admission of certain kinds of evidence, regardless of any limiting instruction given by the trial court, is so prejudicial that it amounts to per se reversible error; however, both of the cases that the District cites are inapposite. *Bertsch v. Brewer*, 97 Wn.2d 83, 84, 640 P.2d 711 (1982), was a case involving medical malpractice and the informed consent doctrine. The challenged evidence there was an extremely negative personality profile given to Bertsch, the

suing patient; the trial court admitted the personality profile, and the jury returned a verdict in favor of Bertsch's treating physician. *Bertsch*, 97 Wn.2d at 85.

On appeal, our Supreme Court held that the personality profile was erroneously admitted by the trial court and rejected the treating physician's argument that the erroneous admission of the personality profile was harmless because the document was relevant only to damages issues not reached by the jury. *Id.* at 88. The Court reasoned that several factors rendered it "unrealistic to conclude the jurors related the contents of the personality profile solely to the damages issue": (1) the personality profile was a separate exhibit, making it "even more noticeable and damaging" than other evidence; (2) the profile was taken into the jury room during deliberations; (3) the profile's "derogatory description" of Bertsch prejudiced the jury as to Bertsch's credibility, which was directly relevant to "many crucial issues" in the case; and, "especially," (4) the trial court did not give a limiting instruction. *Id.* at 88.

Unlike the personality profile in *Bertsch*, N.L.'s statements at issue here were properly admitted under ER 703 and 705. Because N.L.'s statements were properly admitted, the *Bertsch* court's harmless error analysis is inapplicable, as there is no error to evaluate. Moreover, unlike the personality profile in *Bertsch*, N.L.'s statements were not admitted as a separate, physical exhibit; they were not taken as a physical object into the jury room; they were but a blip on the radar in the context of all the other evidence that the District should have known about the risk of harm Shafer

posed to students; and, most importantly, the trial court gave the jury appropriate limiting instructions.¹⁵ Accordingly, the District's argument fails.

Similarly, *State v. Justesen*, 121 Wn. App. 83, 84, 86 P.3d 1259 (2004) is inapposite. There, the trial court admitted evidence at trial, subject to a limiting instruction, that a key witness had taken and passed a polygraph test. *Id.* at 85. On appeal, Division One held that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting the polygraph results, an "inherently unreliable . . . indicator of deception," without a stipulation between the parties. *Id.* at 85, 95. Division One further held that the limiting instruction's language was "ineffective" because it not only "told the jury not to consider the polygraph as reliable evidence that KS did or did not commit sexual abuse," but also "explicitly invited" the jury to use the polygraph evidence for the inconsistent and impermissible purpose of using polygraph evidence "to establish that one party's version of events is the truth." *Id.* at 95.

Unlike in *Justesen*, the evidence admitted in this case was not polygraph evidence, a fact clearly central to Division One's reasoning, and rightfully so. *Id.* at 86, 93. There is a clear distinction between admitting

¹⁵ The *Bertsch* court proceeded to state that assuming the jurors could have considered the personality profile only in relation to Bertsch's damages, even if a limiting instruction had been given, was "naïve and unrealistic." *Berstch*, 97 Wn.2d at 88. The *Bertsch* opinion, not exactly a model of judicial clarity, appeared to have included this language to in relation to its observation that ER 403 requires consideration of the effectiveness of limiting instructions and its holding that the personality profile was inadmissible under ER 403. *Id.* at 87. As discussed above, the District failed to preserve an ER 403 issue for appellate review in relation to N.L.'s statements.

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